
 
 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 Wednesday, 13th September, 
2023 at 5.30 pm 
 
Committee Room 1, Civic 
Centre, Southampton. 

 
 

This meeting is open to the public 
 

 Members 
 

 Councillor Fielker (Chair) 

Councillor Finn  

Councillor Kenny 

Councillor P Baillie 

Councillor Houghton  

 

Debbie Chase – Director of Public Health 

James House - Managing Director, Southampton Place, 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board 

Robert Henderson – Executive Director Wellbeing 
Children and Learning (DCS)  

Claire Edgar – Executive Director Wellbeing and 
Housing (DASS) 

Rob Kurn – Healthwatch 

Dr Sarah Young - NHS Southampton Clinical 
Commissioning Group,  

Dr Hana Burgess – Mental Health Clinician  

Dr Michael Roe – Local Paediatrician  

Paul Grundy - Chief Medical Officer at University 
Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust; 

 
  

 
 Contacts 
 Claire Heather  

Senior Democratic Support Officer 
Tel: 023 8083 2412 
Email: claire.heather@southampton.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

mailto:claire.heather@southampton.gov.uk


 

 
 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND AND RELEVANT INFORMATION 
 

Purpose of the Board 
The purpose of the Southampton 
Health and Wellbeing Board is: 

 To bring together Southampton 
City Council and key NHS 
commissioners to improve the 
health and wellbeing of citizens, 
thereby helping them live their 
lives to the full, and to reduce 
health inequalities; 

 To ensure that all activity across 
partner organisations supports 
positive health outcomes for local 
people and keeps them safe. 

 To hold partner organisations to 
account for the oversight of 
related commissioning strategies 
and plans. 

 To have oversight of the 
environmental factors that impact 
on health, and to influence the 
City Council, its partners and 
Regulators to support a healthy 
environment for people who live 

and work in Southampton 
Smoking policy – The Council operates 
a no-smoking policy in all civic buildings. 

Mobile Telephones:- Please switch your 

mobile telephones to silent whilst in the 

meeting  

Fire Procedure – In the event of a fire or 
other emergency, a continuous alarm will 
sound and you will be advised, by officers 
of the Council, of what action to take 
Access – Access is available for disabled 
people.  Please contact the Democratic 
Support Officer who will help to make any 
necessary arrangements. 
 

Southampton: Corporate Plan 
2022-2030 sets out the four key 
outcomes:  

 Communities, culture & homes - 
Celebrating the diversity of 
cultures within Southampton; 
enhancing our cultural and 
historical offer and using these to 
help transform our communities.  

 Green City - Providing a 
sustainable, clean, healthy and 
safe environment for everyone. 

Responsibilities 
The Board is responsible for developing mechanisms to 
undertake the duties of the Health and Wellbeing Board, in 
particular 

 Promoting joint commissioning and integrated delivery of 
services; 

 Acting as the lead commissioning vehicle for designated 
service areas; 

 Ensuring an up to date JSNA and other appropriate 
assessments are in place 

 Ensuring the development of a Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy for Southampton and monitoring its delivery. 

 Oversight and assessment of the effectiveness of local 
public involvement in health, public health and care 
services 

 Ensuring the system for partnership working is working 
effectively between health and care services and 
systems, and the work of other partnerships which 
contribute to health and wellbeing outcomes for local 
people.   

o Testing the local framework for commissioning 
for: Health care; Social care; Public health 
services; and Ensuring safety in improving health 
and wellbeing outcomes 

Use of Social Media:- The Council supports the video or 
audio recording of meetings open to the public, for either 
live or subsequent broadcast. However, if, in the Chair’s 
opinion, a person filming or recording a meeting or taking 
photographs is interrupting proceedings or causing a 
disturbance, under the Council’s Standing Orders the 
person can be ordered to stop their activity, or to leave the 
meeting. By entering the meeting room you are consenting 
to being recorded and to the use of those images and 
recordings for broadcasting and or/training purposes. The 
meeting may be recorded by the press or members of the 
public.  Any person or organisation filming, recording or 
broadcasting any meeting of the Council is responsible for 
any claims or other liability resulting from them doing so.  
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the recording of 
meetings is available on the Council’s website. 
 
Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 2023/2024 
 
 

13 September 2023 

13 December 2023 

13 March 2024 
 



 

Nurturing green spaces and 
embracing our waterfront.  

 Place shaping - Delivering a city 
for future generations. Using data, 
insight and vision to meet the 
current and future needs of the 
city.  

 Wellbeing - Start well, live well, 
age well, die well; working with 
other partners and other services 
to make sure that customers get 
the right help at the right time. 

CONDUCT OF MEETING 
 
BUSINESS TO BE DISCUSSED 
Only those items listed on the attached agenda may be considered at this meeting. 
 
PROCEDURE / PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 
At the discretion of the Chair, members of the public may address the meeting on any report 
included on the agenda in which they have a relevant interest. Any member of the public wishing to 
address the meeting should advise the Democratic Support Officer (DSO) whose contact details are 
on the front sheet of the agenda. 
 
RULES OF PROCEDURE 
The meeting is governed by the Executive Procedure Rules as set 
out in Part 4 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 

QUORUM 
The minimum number of 
appointed Members required 
to be in attendance to hold 
the meeting is 3 who will 
include at least one Elected 
Member, a member from 
Health and Healthwatch.   

 

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both 
the existence and nature of any “Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” or “Other Interest” they 
may have in relation to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any 
matter that they or their spouse, partner, a person they are living with as husband or wife, or 
a person with whom they are living as if they were a civil partner in relation to:  

(i) Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 
(ii) Sponsorship: 
Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from Southampton City Council) 
made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expense incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial 
benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992. 
(iii) Any contract which is made between you / your spouse etc (or a body in which the you / your 
spouse etc has a beneficial interest) and Southampton City Council under which goods or services 
are to be provided or works are to be executed, and which has not been fully discharged. 
(iv) Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of Southampton. 
(v) Any license (held alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of Southampton for a 
month or longer. 
(vi) Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) the landlord is Southampton City Council and the tenant 



 

is a body in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interests. 
(vii) Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where that body (to your knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of Southampton, and either: 

a) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body, or 

b) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 
shares of any one class in which you / your spouse etc has a beneficial interest that exceeds 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class 

 
Other Interests 

 
 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having an, ‘Other Interest’ in any membership 
of, or  occupation of a position of general control or management in: 

 
 
Any body to which they  have been appointed or nominated by Southampton City Council 
 
Any public authority or body exercising functions of a public nature 
 
Any body directed to charitable purposes 
 
Any body whose principal purpose includes the influence of public opinion or policy 
 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

 proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

 due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

 respect for human rights; 

 a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

 setting out what options have been considered; 

 setting out reasons for the decision; and 

 clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

 understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

 take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

 leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

 act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

 not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 
the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

 comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual 
basis.  Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward 
funding are unlawful; and 

 act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

 

 
1   APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)    

 
 To note any changes in membership of the Board made in accordance with Council 

Procedure Rule 4.3.  
 
 

2   STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR     
 

3   DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PECUNIARY INTERESTS    
 

 In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s Code of Conduct, 
Members to disclose any personal or pecuniary interests in any matter included on the 
agenda for this meeting. 
 

NOTE:  Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer. 

 
4   APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR    

 
 To appoint a Vice-Chair for the Municipal Year 2023/24. 

 
5   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)    

 
 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 8th March 

2023 and to deal with any matters arising, attached. 
 

6   WE CAN ALL BE ACTIVE - UPDATE ON STRATEGY    
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Adults, Housing and Health detailing progress on the 
We Can All Be Active Strategy. 
 

7   DEVELOPMENT OF A MENTAL HEALTH & WELLBEING STRATEGY    
 

 To receive a presentation from Emily Walmsley, Public Health Consultant regarding the 
development of a Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 

Tuesday, 5 September 2023 Director – Legal, Governance and HR 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

- 8 - 
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 8 MARCH 2023 
 

 

Present: Councillors Fielker (Chair), White, P Baillie, Dr Paffey and Savage 
 

 Debbie Chase Director Public Health 
 Claire Edgar Executive Director Wellbeing and Housing (DASS) 
 James House Managing Director, Southampton Place, Hampshire 

and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board 
 Dr Sarah 

Young 
Managing Director, Southampton Place, Hampshire 
and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board 

 Rob Kurn 
 

Healthwatch 

 Dr Christine 
McGrath  

Representing Paul Grundy, Chief Medical Officer, 
University Hospital Southampton NHS Foundation Trust 

  
Attendance via Hybrid Link  
 

 Rob 
Henderson 

Executive Director Wellbeing Children and Learning  

 
 

Apologies: Dr Roe 
 

 
19. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  

RESOLVED: that the minutes of the meeting held on 14th December be approved as a 
correct record subject to Dr Sarah Young being removed from those present as 
apologies had been made and were recorded. 
 

20. HEALTH IN ALL POLICIES: THE NEXT PHASE APPROACH AND FRAMEWORK 
TO REDUCE HEALTH INEQUALITIES IN SOUTHAMPTON  

The Board received and noted the report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Adults and 
Leisure detailing the next phase approach and framework to incorporate Health in all 
Council Policies to reduce health inequalities in Southampton. 
 
The Board noted progress made in considering health within a wide range of policies in 
Southampton and commitment to continued leadership to champion and further embed 
this approach within organisations and across the City. 
 
The Board supported the proposal to further develop a health in all policies approach 
that took action through processes, programmes and strategic joint action. 
 
In conclusion it was noted that there would be an update to the Board in 12 months’ 
time detailing progress in delivery against the implementation agenda, successes, and 
the next phase of work.  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

- 9 - 
 

21. GIVING CHILDREN THE BEST START IN LIFE: UPDATE ON DELIVERY OF 
SOUTHAMPTON’S CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE’S STRATEGY AND START 
WELL PROGRAMME  

The Board received and noted the report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Adults and 
Leisure detailing progress of the delivery of Southampton’s Children and Young 
People’s Strategy and Start Well Programme to ensure that Children in the City were 
given the best start in life. 
 
The Board particularly noted the following points:- 
 

 The progress made in respect of Child Friendly Southampton; and the 
nomination of the ‘health’ badge. This would provide an opportunity for all 
partners, whether primarily working with children or adults, to come together to 
build a collective whole family focus on emotional and mental health and healthy 
weight. Both have also been identified as priorities and commitments for the next 
two years in the Health & Care Strategy. 

 The citywide focus on Trauma Informed Practice, again a priority and 
commitment in the Health & Care Strategy. Partners were encouraged to sign up 
to the Emotional & Mental Health training led by the Anna Freud Centre and 
Charlie Waller Trust which was being rolled out across the city. 

 The City Council priority regarding locality working. 

 The Board’s Corporate Parenting responsibilities in respect of the city’s 
Southampton children.  

 
Councillor Margetts was in attendance at the meeting and with the consent of the Chair 
addressed the meeting. 
 

22. INTEGRATED CARE PARTNERSHIP INTERIM INTEGRATED CARE STRATEGY  

The Board received and noted the report of the Cabinet Member for Health, Adults and 
Leisure detailing the progress since December on the Interim Integrated Care Strategy 
and the delivery of the Interim Integrated Care Strategy Priorities. 
 
The Board noted that the Strategy had been developed in partnership with local 
authorities; the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
for Southampton City alongside those of our other local authorities had been used to 
inform the case for change and priorities. The strategy had been developed in close 
partnership working with the Directors of Public Health from the local authorities to 
ensure that it built on and supported the work ongoing at a place level. To ensure the 
effective delivery of the strategy, it was recognised that partnership working with Health 
and Wellbeing Boards would be vital. 
 
The Board indicated that within the next update there needed to be more information on 
the priorities alongside tangible outcomes to provide the Board with opportunity to 
discuss these in full and provide feedback, it was considered that work around the 
strategy was not advancing as required. 
 

 

Page 2



DECISION-MAKER:  Health and Wellbeing Board 

SUBJECT: Southampton ‘We Can Be Active’ Strategy Progress 
Report 

DATE OF DECISION: 13 September 2023 

REPORT OF: COUNCILLOR LORNA FIELKER 

CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULTS, HEALTH AND 
HOUSING 

CONTACT DETAILS 

Executive Director  Title Executive Director for Wellbeing & Housing 

 Name:  Claire Edgar Tel: 023 8083 3045 

 E-mail: Claire.Edgar@southampton.gov.uk 

Author: Title Consultant in Public Health 

 Name:  Becky Wilkinson Tel: 07774336072 

 E-mail: Becky.Wilkinson@southampton.gov.uk 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None  

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This paper is a progress update of the We Can Be Active (WCBA) Strategy 
commitments following the first year of implementation. Progress is described through 
a SWOT (Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats) analysis.  

The Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) is asked to consider how we celebrate the 
strengths, address the weaknesses and threats, and take advantage of the 
opportunities to support continued delivery.  

 As part of a continual improvement process, the WCBA Action Plan will be updated 
with proposed actions from the Board and in co-production with the Physical Activity 
Alliance. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) For the Board to consider the SWOT analysis on ‘We Can Be Active’ 
progress and decide, and support, further actions for continued 
progress. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. An update of the action plan is recommended as the means to address the 
weaknesses and threats of implementation, and to take advantage of the 
identified opportunities.   

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None.   

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

 Background 

3. Physical inactivity is the 4th leading risk factor for global mortality. People 
who have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of 
cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke compared to Page 3

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Claire.Edgar@southampton.gov.uk
mailto:Becky.Wilkinson@southampton.gov.uk


those who have a sedentary lifestyle. Regular physical activity is also 
associated with a reduced risk of diabetes, obesity, osteoporosis and 
colon/breast cancer and with improved mental health. Southampton has 
lower rates of physical activity than the national average across the life 
course; for instance, in 2021-22 only 41% of children and young people met 
the UK Chief Medical Officers' recommendations for physical activity (an 
average of at least 60 minutes moderate to vigorous intensity activity per day 
across the week) compared to 47% nationally1. It is, therefore, important that 
we support our residents to be more active.  

 

The development of the We Can Be Active (WCBA) Strategy in 2021, was 
led by our local Active Partnership, Energise Me, who are funded by Sport 
England. Its development over a 1-year period involved collating insight and 
evidence, engagement with the public and stakeholder organisations and a 
co-design phase across the Integrated Care System (ICS), including 
Southampton. Around 30 organisations in Southampton were involved in the 
engagement process including SCC departments, CCG, NHS Trusts, 
Universities, and the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) 
sector. 

 

In March 2022, the WCBA Strategy was adopted by the Southampton Health 
and Wellbeing Board (HWB) as the new physical activity strategy for the city, 
replacing a strategy that was developed in 2017. The WCBA Strategy has 5 
themes: 

a. Positive early experiences for our children and young people 

b. Opportunities that meet our needs and interests, are accessible and easy 
to find 

c. Places and travel routes where we all feel safe and are encouraged to be 
active 

d. Support to help get started or keep moving when we feel we can’t do 
things alone 

e. Bold leaders working together to create happier healthier communities 

 

As the WCBA Strategy is high level, the HWB agreed that a Southampton-
specific action plan should be developed to support its implementation. This 
was done through co-production with stakeholders, including members of the 
Southampton Physical Activity Alliance (a forum for all those in the city with 
an interest in supporting people to be more active). Leads for each action, 
from within SCC and externally, were identified and agreed in August 2022. 
Since then, progress on the actions has been reported and monitored on a 
quarterly basis.  

 

In winter 2022 the SCC Strategic Leisure Group agreed a new leisure 
mission for the city which includes improving health and wellbeing, and 
reducing health inequalities, through ‘fit for purpose’ leisure services and 
‘spaces’. A review of council policies in Spring 2023 found that the leisure 
mission aligned with the WCBA Strategy. A Leisure Action Plan is now being 

                                            
1Office for Health Improvement and Disparities Physical Activity Profiles Physical Activity - OHID 
(phe.org.uk) Page 4

https://www.energiseme.org/about-us/physical-activity-strategy/we-can-be-active-strategy/
https://www.energiseme.org/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/physical-activity


developed to set out how the aims of the WCBA Strategy can be achieved 
through leisure. Strategic leadership of both leisure and physical activity by 
the Director of Public Health ensures alignment rather than duplication of the 
two Action Plans.   

 

This report describes the results of an analysis of the strengths, 
weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT) after the first year of 
implementation of the WCBA Action Plan. Appendix 1 presents a table to 
summarise the SWOT analysis.  

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to consider how we celebrate the 
strengths, address the weaknesses and threats, and take advantage of the 
opportunities. 

4 Strengths 

 4.1  Positive early experiences 

This theme aims to enhance children and young people’s experiences of 
physical activity, to embed activity in early years setting and school life, and 
to increase affordable opportunities for moving more in areas with high 
proportions of inactive children and young people.  

 

Over the year, positive progress has been made in the number of early years 
setting taking part in the Healthy Early Years Award (HEYA); this has 
increased from 74 in January to 81 in July.  

 

There has also been good engagement in active travel in school settings, 
with 15 schools having Modeshift STARS accreditation for excellence in 
School Travel Planning and, across the city, 13 permanent School Streets 
which turn roads into pedestrian/cycle zones at pick up and drop off times, 
creating a safe space for people to walk, cycle or scoot. 

 

Engagement with children and young people is happening through various 
existing forums such as The Agency, the Pathways for Health project and, 
through the Child Friendly Southampton initiative, young people in the city 
voted for ‘healthy’ as one of their six priorities/’badges’.  

 

The Holiday Activity Fund (HAF) has supported thousands of children during 
school holidays and has now been extended to cover half term holidays too. 
HAF providers must offer activities on a daily basis that meet Physical 
Activity Guidelines.   

 

Energise Me have run a pilot Change Champions programme at St Annes 
School. This built on the This Girl Can national campaign and helped girls to 
create positive change in their schools, particularly relating to PE, so that 
they felt more confident and supported to be active. 

 

4.2   Opportunities that meet our needs 

Page 5

https://www.southampton.gov.uk/children-families/early-years-and-childcare/childcare-providers/improving-early-years-practice/heya/
https://myjourneysouthampton.com/education/early-years/modeshift-stars/
https://myjourneyhampshire.com/education/school-streets/southampton-school-streets-programme/
https://www.energiseme.org/theagency/
https://www.pathways-to-health.org/
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/people-places/child-friendly-southampton/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/physical-activity-guidelines
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/physical-activity-guidelines
https://www.energiseme.org/about-us/campaigns-we-support/this-girl-can/this-girl-can-hampshire-secondary-school-champions/
https://www.energiseme.org/about-us/campaigns-we-support/this-girl-can/this-girl-can-hampshire-secondary-school-champions/


This theme seeks to promote activities that are happening across the city, 
making them easy to find, and also to develop opportunities for activities that 
better meet people’s needs through effective consultation.  

 

Over the year, colleagues in SCC Communications have promoted physical 
activity, with a particular focus on the accessible leisure offers in the city (e.g. 
accessible cycling, Forever Fit at Bitterne and Exercise Referrals). 
Additionally, through the Physical Activity Alliance, we have encouraged the 
use of Energise Me’s Get Active online directory of activities for both 
providers and people looking for activity opportunities in the city. 

 

The Active Through Football programme offers opportunities for moving 
more that are different to traditional football activities, such as chair based 
exercises for older residents.  

  

Last year we used the Public Health Grant to offer an Active Communities 
Fund for local organisations for time limited projects or seed funding for long-
term initiatives to support communities to become more physically active. For 
example, the Priory Road Community Group used the fund for chair-based 
exercises at their lunch club; they reported this was “a lively focus on 
stimulating movement, weight-bearing for all including those with disabilities.  
It is a time of enjoyment and is well attended. 

 

4.3  Places and travel routes 

 

This theme aims to promote active travel and increase the range of places in 
the city for residents to be active through transforming under-utilised spaces 
and increasing safety (and perceptions of safety).  

 

The SCC Transport Delivery Team is working on improving district centres 
(starting with Bitterne precinct) so they are greener and tidier and, therefore, 
more attractive for active travel. Active travel Zones (e.g. Woolston and 
Itchen) have been co-designed with local communities and are at various 
stages of implementation. Additionally, an Accessibility Forum has been 
established to consult with community representatives on transport projects 
and identify places where the public realm is in need of improvement for 
disabled people. 

 

Southampton has an amazing abundance of green space, with almost the 
whole city being within 10 minutes’ walk of a local park or open space2. A 
ranger team (six staff) is now in place, and they will focus on management of 
The Common and Greenways to improve habitats, access and pathways to 
encourage increased public use of these semi-natural areas. This year two 
more of our parks have been awarded Green Flag status, meaning eight in 
total have now reached this international standard.  

  

                                            
2  Fields in Trust Green Space Index Page 6

https://activenation.org.uk/active-communities/southampton/health-and-wellbeing/community-classes/
https://activenation.org.uk/active-communities/southampton/health-and-wellbeing/exercise-on-referral/
https://getactive.io/
https://www.southamptonfc.com/en/saints-foundation-active-through-football
https://transport.southampton.gov.uk/public-realm-schemes/bitterne-district-centre-improvements/
https://transport.southampton.gov.uk/tcf/bursledon-to-southampton-corridor/woolston-itchen-atz/
https://transport.southampton.gov.uk/tcf/bursledon-to-southampton-corridor/woolston-itchen-atz/
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/travel-transport/local-transport-plan/the-accessibility-forum/
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/people-places/parks-open-spaces/parks/
https://www.fieldsintrust.org/green-space-index


The Good Gym initiative is now running in Southampton. This brings 
together volunteers who run, walk or cycle to help out community projects, 
often with environmental tasks such as litter clearing or gardening.  

 

4.4  Support to help get started 

The way that we talk about physical activity is fundamental to supporting 
people to get started so this theme includes actions around the terminology 
that we use and the promotion of opportunities that challenge perceptions of 
who can be active.  

Communications colleagues from SCC and Energise Me gave a powerful 
presentation to the Physical Activity Alliance on the imagery and language 
we should use to make activity accessible and inclusive.  

 

A Physical Activity Navigator was funded for 12 months in May 2022 by the 
SCC Public Health Team, to provide specialist physical activity advice and 
support to people referred to the SO:Linked social prescribing service. An 
independent evaluation of this pilot project found that providing people with 
person-centred support helped them be more active in a way that suits them. 
It created a trusting environment where they could share some of their wider 
concerns and get the help they needed. Having a specific post raised the 
profile of physical activity opportunities as a pathway for social prescribing 
and encouraged referral partners, other organisations and the wider 
voluntary sector to think about moving more and what their role and their part 
in it is.  

 

Increasing confidence in activities such as cycling and swimming is also an 
important aspect of this theme and there have been successes in these 
areas over the past year such as Cycle Confidence Training, ‘Pedal Party’ 
events and swimming lessons for African men at Bitterne leisure centre.  

 

4.5  Bold leaders 

This theme aims to get organisations working together to champion physical 
activity and to support people to move more in a way that suits them. A key 
strength is the Physical Activity Alliance which is currently a partnership of 38 
organisations (100 individual members) across Southampton; these include 
Communicare, Energise Me, Active Nation, Saints Foundation, University of 
Southampton, and Southampton Solent University – all of which have sent 
representatives to every meeting over the past year. Meetings are themed 
and held quarterly, sometimes virtually and sometimes in person, with an 
average attendance of 30. Recent themes have been places, older people 
and cost of living. Members regularly feedback about the value of the 
Alliance for sharing information and generating ideas. 

  

This theme also has an action to encourage employer organisations to take 
responsibility for enabling employees to be active. Progress has been made 
on this in relation to active travel through SCC’s Sustainable Travel team 
such via Workplace Travel grants for employers to provide cycle storage, 
training and other support.  

 

Page 7

https://www.goodgym.org/v3/areas/southampton


Energise Me have held three ‘Bold Leaders Learning Sessions’ focused on 
people within our communities, and nationally, who are bold leaders, to 
support both paid and voluntary organisations and workforce. 

   

The adoption, and growing recognition, of the WCBA Strategy across SCC is 
demonstrated but the alignment of the Leisure Strategic Action Plan with its 
five themes. 

 

5 Weaknesses and threats 

 The current financial challenge, not just within SCC but also for providers of 
activities across the city through increases in inflation and utility costs, is a 
threat that impacts on all themes of the WCBA strategy. Rising costs of living 
are likely to present additional barriers to physical activity for our residents 
through both direct costs and indirect costs, such as travel and childcare. 
The impacts are greatest for the most disadvantaged communities and, 
therefore, are likely to exacerbate health inequalities3.  

 

Cost of living was the theme of the Physical Activity Alliance meeting in 
January 2023, and the discussion covered strategies to support residents to 
still be active, such as ‘pay what you feel sessions’, accepting cash 
payments and collaborating with other providers so that activities for children 
could be offered at the same time as activities for parents. 

 

Each theme of the WCBA Action Plan has some areas that are more 
challenging to progress and, therefore, present ‘weaknesses’ or gaps in 
achieving the Strategy’s aims; these are described below.  

 

5.1 Positive early experiences 

Despite some innovative engagement with children and young people, there 
has been limited co-design of physical activity opportunities during the first 
year of the WCBA Strategy. This could be considered as part of the Child 
Friendly City initiative, acknowledging need to carefully consider resource 
requirements (see section 5.1 on Opportunities).   

 

5.2 Opportunities that meet our needs 

Members of the Physical Activity Alliance regularly report that information on 
activities is hard to find even though there are various online directories 
detailing the available opportunities. As an Alliance, we encourage the use of 
the Get Active directory as it uses open data standards meaning the 
information is easily shared with other directories in the city such as 
SO:Linked. However, many providers are still not uploading their information 
to any directories which may be due to a variety of reasons, not least 
because of the resource required to update information on activities that 
change fairly frequently. Additionally, due to digital exclusion, online portals 
are not a solution for many people, especially some of our most inactive 
groups in the city.   

                                            
3 The impact of the cost of living | Sport England Page 8

https://youtu.be/LqKklEx-9yE
https://getactive.io/
https://solinked.org.uk/
https://www.sportengland.org/impact-cost-living


 

Over the past year we have consulted on various aspects of leisure in the 
city (including St Mary’s Leisure Centre and improvements to some of our 
tennis court). However, there has been limited co-design of activities, 
particularly with inactive groups. 

 

The April Physical Activity Alliance meeting was themed around ‘supporting 
older people to move more’ and members had a great deal of enthusiasm for 
this. A key action was for the Alliance to feed into the Southampton ‘Age 
Well Strategy’, however, due to staff changes, this work has not progressed. 

5.3 Places and travel routes 

Funding cuts and resource pressures have reduced availability of Cycle 
Confidence training and although a community developer worker has been 
appointed through British Cycling this is particularly for developing the 
Outdoor Sports Centre as a hub for cycling. 

 

Supporting the community to make use of, and improve, under-utilised 
spaces has seen limited progress over the past year and this has been 
through one-off projects rather than strategically.   

 

5.4   Support to help get started 

The Physical Activity Alliance has limited representation from our local 
partners in health and care. This presents a weakness in terms of supporting 
inactive groups to get started, especially those with a long term illness or 
disability. There is a need to find better ways of engaging health and care 
partners in the Alliance, in a way that works best for them. 

 

5.5  Bold leaders 

We have made limited progress this year in engaging with local businesses. 
As above, we need to identify better approaches to engage with this sector in 
ways that work for them.  

  

6 Opportunities 

 6.1  Positive early experiences 

Our young people have selected ‘healthy’ as a priority for the city’s Child 
Friendly programme and the developing action plan includes a focus on 
opportunities for activity, therefore, aligning with the goals of the WCBA 
Strategy.  This presents an opportunity to engage children and young people 
in the co-design of activities that suit them.  

  

6.2  Opportunities that meet our needs 

A new Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategy is being developed for 
Southampton which this offers an opportunity to engage with relevant 
stakeholders and make progress on developing physical activity 
opportunities to help promote mental wellbeing.  

 

Page 9



Sport England are developing a ‘Place Expansion’ funding stream which 
builds on the Local Delivery Pilots funded in 2017. The details are yet to be 
announced but, through working with Energise Me, this could be a way of 
funding innovative work and co-designing opportunities for activity in some of 
our priority communities.   

 

In terms of supporting our older residents to be active, the Integrated 
Commissioning Unit are reviewing the Ageing Well Partnership which may 
offer an opportunity to raise physical activity up this agenda. Additionally, 
there may be scope for collaborating across Hampshire and Isle of Wight. 
Hampshire County Council, for example, has the Live Longer Better 
programme which aims to embed physical activity as an essential part of 
older people’s lives and includes training of the social care workforce and 
establishing of communities of practice. 

  

6.3  Places and travel routes 

Sport England have developed new Active Design Planning Guidance which 
we can use in the following ways to make our environments more conducive 
to physical activity  

 Incorporating Active Design principles into the relevant policies of the 
new Local Plan 

 Reviewing planning applications to encourage more Active Design 
features 

 Integrating Active Design principles into public realm and master 
planning projects 

 

The threat posed by the cost of living situation, also presents an opportunity 
as active travel is a more affordable option. For instance, Sport England 
recently reported that 20% of adults are walking/cycling to get to places 
rather than using the car4.  To support this, there is an opportunity with SCC 
Transport Delivery Team to identify priority travel routes and public spaces 
for improvement.  

 

A Strategic Outcomes Planning Model (SOPM) for our leisure offer in the city 
is being commissioned. The SOPM is a Sport England tool to inform 
investment decisions into facilities and services. It will review the delivery 
options available to SCC for its leisure facilities across the city, including the 
three core sites (The Quays, Bitterne and Chamberlayne). The results of the 
SOPM will facilitate discussions with Sport England and National Governing 
Bodies about the availability of funding. 

6.4  Support to help get started 

We now have an opportunity to build on the Physical Activity pilot, using the 
findings from the independent evaluation. For instance, the evaluation 
highlighted an ongoing need to change perceptions of what physical activity 
is, and the benefits of moving more, among a range of stakeholders involved 
in health, wellbeing and social care. More work is needed to get the 
message to more groups and more places about the benefits of 

                                            
4 The impact of the cost of living | Sport England Page 10

https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/livelongerbetter
https://www.sportengland.org/guidance-and-support/facilities-and-planning/design-and-cost-guidance/active-design
https://www.sportengland.org/impact-cost-living


incorporating some movement into their activities and to help people 
understand the broad range of activities that ‘count’ as being physically 
active. 

 

There are also opportunities for engagement with our health and care 
partners. For instance, we now have one Social Prescriber on the Physical 
Activity Alliance and have recently had discussions with Steps2Wellbeing, 
our local NHS talking therapies service, about implementing recent guidance 
on Physical Activity in Talking Therapy5.  

Additionally, the Hampshire & IoW VCSE Health & Care Alliance (HIVCA) 
offers further ways for our voluntary sector partners, with an interest in 
physical activity, to link with the Integrated Care System. Furthermore, 
training (e.g., via Clinical Champions) is available to support health and 
social care staff in championing moving more. Finally, Energise Me can 
support Primary Care organisations to adopt the Active Practice Charter 
which supports patients and staff to be more active.   

 

A further opportunity to support people to get started is an idea from 
SO:Linked for ‘Warm welcome’ standards for activity providers. The 
providers would sign up to the following three standards to support people 
using a facility or taking part in an activity for the first time: 

 Offer an induction  

 Ask what support a person needs 

 Offer a free first session 

There may be opportunity to require providers to offer these kinds of support 
through their contractual agreements with SCC. However, promotion is 
needed to encourage other smaller providers or voluntary organisations to 
take part. 

 

6.5  Bold leaders 

Physical activity has co-benefits for business through healthier, happier 
employees and reduced sickness absence. Therefore, there are incentives 
for businesses to support their employees to be more active which we could 
explore through our partners, such as Go Southampton, and through 
expanding on the work of the Active Travel Workplaces team.  

 

Additionally, we could provide greater support to our local community and 
voluntary agencies to apply for external funding for projects that support 
residents to be more active. At the same time encouraging community 
leaders to be WCBA Champions. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

7. None 

Property/Other 

8. None 

                                            
5 Sport and physical activity - Transformation Partners in Health and Care Page 11

https://www.steps2wellbeing.co.uk/
https://elearning.rcgp.org.uk/mod/page/view.php?id=12583
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/solinked.org.uk/warm-welcome__;!!NO-ljftdxW2aALo!XnSWL5UkHw24h06rDtapcAW9DHeQuXiO6Dv5wGnLfGWMhrDn9ByVwWbwS4SY7e0GDD2jaStYhoYLhYcmHLdUEp_Q7JXiYo8w2yTpo713$
https://www.transformationpartnersinhealthandcare.nhs.uk/iapt-transformation/working-with-partners/sport-and-physical-activity/


LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

9. No legal implications 

Other Legal Implications:  

10.  

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

11. None  

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

12. None  

 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

Appendices  

1. Table summarising the Southampton We Can Be Active (WCBA) Strategy 
and Action Plan Strengths, Threats, Weaknesses and Opportunities after the 
first year of implementation.   

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None. 

Equality Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Equality and 

Safety Impact Assessment (ESIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Data Protection Impact Assessment 

Do the implications/subject of the report require a Data Protection  
Impact Assessment (DPIA) to be carried out.   

No 

Other Background Documents We Can Be Active Strategy  

Other Background documents available for inspection at: 

 

We Can Be Active Strategy available at: We Can Be Active Strategy for Hampshire 
and Isle of Wight - Energise Me 

 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / 
Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

 

Page 12

https://www.energiseme.org/about-us/physical-activity-strategy/we-can-be-active-strategy/
https://www.energiseme.org/about-us/physical-activity-strategy/we-can-be-active-strategy/


Appendix 1: Table summarising the Southampton We Can Be Active (WCBA) Strategy and Action Plan Strengths, Threats, 
Weaknesses and Opportunities after the first year of implementation. 

WCBA Theme Strengths Threats Weaknesses Opportunities 

Positive early 
experiences 

 HEYA, HH5, HAF 

 Active Travel e.g. School Streets 

 Engagement e.g. Change Champions 

 SCC 
financial 
challenge  

 CoL impacts 
on external 
activity 
providers 

 CoL impacts 
on residents 

 Co-design of activities 
with CYP 

 Child Friendly Action Plan 

Opportunities 
that meet our 
needs 

 Communications and promotion 

 Online directories e.g. Get Active 

 Active Through Football 

 Knowing what 
opportunities for activity 
are available 

 Limited co-design of 
opportunities 

 Older persons 

 Mental Health Strategy 

 Sport England Place Expansion funding  

 Ageing Well 
 

Places and travel 
routes 

 Improving district centres 

 Active travel Zones 

 Accessibility Forum 

 Parks 

 Improving under-utilised 
spaces 

 Work with Transport Delivery Team to 
identify priority routes 

 Active Design in Planning Policy 

 Leisure Strategic Planning Outcomes 
Model 

Support to get 
started 

 Language and terminology 

 Physical Activity Navigator pilot 

 Cycling and swimming confidence 
building 

 Links with health and 
care 

 Learning from evaluation of Physical 
Activity Navigator pilot 

 Training for Health and Care staff 

 Hampshire & IoW VCSE Health & Care 
Alliance 

 ‘Warm Welcome’ standards for activity 
providers 

 IAPT 

Bold Leaders  Physical Activity Alliance 

 Workplace travel 

 ‘Bold Leader Learning Sessions’ 

 Leisure vision 

 Limited engagement with 
businesses 

 Business 

 External funding opportunities 

 Community leaders 

Glossary: HEYA = Healthy Early Years Award; HH5 = Healthy High Five; HAF = Holiday Activity Fund; CYP = Children and Young People; IoW = Isle of Wight;  

VCSE = Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise; IAPT = Improving Access to Psychological Therapies 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix 1



 

P
age 14


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	6 We Can All Be Active - Update on Strategy
	Appendix 1 - We Can  Be Active - update on strategy


